RECEIVED

Aug 04 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable David P. Caraker, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2024-001615

THE STATE,

Appellant,

vs.

ELISABETH ANNE GERMAIN,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3747

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting St.
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial judge reversibly erred by granting Germain's motion to dismiss both the unlawful use of 911 charge and the resisting arrest charge after finding that the arrest was unlawful when there were sufficient facts to support the charge of misuse of 911 prior to Fourth Amendment Violation occurring.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In July of 2023, Respondent Elisabeth Germain was arrested for unlawful use of 911 and resisting arrest. In November of 2023, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted on those charges. On August 21, 2024, Germain's case was called for trial in the Charleston County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable David P. Caraker, Jr., circuit court judge, presiding. At the outset of the trial proceedings, Germain's counsel submitted a motion to dismiss both charges.¹ After hearing from witnesses for both parties and hearing arguments from counsel, the trial judge granted the motion to dismiss. An order granting the defense motion to dismiss was filed on September 24, 2024. The State then timely filed a notice of appeal. This Brief of Appellant follows.

¹ The Motion to Dismiss was actually filed with the Court on August 22, 2024, but was provided via email to the State and the trial judge on the night of August 20, 2024.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 19, 2023, Officers Brandon Duritsa and Michael Hendricks responded to a report indicating an individual cussing out dispatch and that a physical disturbance occurred at her residence. (R. 21). Upon arrival, Elisabeth Germain, Respondent, was acting belligerent and smelled of alcohol. (R. 22). Dispatch had informed the officers that Respondent had made multiple calls to 911 and was using profane language toward the dispatchers. (R. 22). Officer Hendricks testified that Respondent made five phone calls to dispatch. (R. 60).

Upon arrival, Respondent made it known to Officers that she was not happy with how long it took them to arrive on scene. (R. 60). Respondent informed the Officers that there was a physical altercation at the residence, but Duritsa testified that he did not see any injuries, nor did anything look in disarray on the porch. (R. 23). Respondent told the officers that she and her boyfriend had a written contract that he would leave the residence if an altercation occurred between the two. (R. 109-113). Respondent wanted the officers to enforce the contract and when the officers informed Respondent they could not enforce the contract, she became angry and began cussing and yelling at them. (R. 24-25). Hendricks testified that there was no immediate danger, Respondent would not confirm why she needed her boyfriend removed from the residence, and Respondent would not ever allow the officers to make contact with the boyfriend. (R. 63). Officers concluded that there were no signs of any physical injury or any evidence of a physical disturbance and informed Respondent that if she called 911 again she would be going to jail. (R. 24-27).

Roughly five minutes after Officers left Respondent's residence, Respondent again called 911 and again used profane and aggressive language toward the dispatchers. Officers returned to Respondent's residence and informed her she was under arrest for misuse of 911. (R. 30).

Respondent responded by continuously opening the door, taunting the officers by cussing and yelling, and then shutting the door whenever officers got close to the door. (R. 31). After multiple instances of that occurring, Officer Duritsa was able to grab Respondent's wrist, escort her outside, and place handcuffs on her. (R. 31).

Contact was made with Respondent's boyfriend who looked like he had been asleep. (R. 65). Hendricks testified that he was calm and collected and no injuries were observed. (R. 65). Hendricks further testified that Respondent made it very clear that she was not going to stop calling 911 that night. (R. 69-70).

Prior to trial, Respondent made a motion to dismiss both charges of misuse of 911 and resisting arrest. (R. 19). Testimony was heard from Officers Duritsa and Hendricks as well as from Respondent. Respondent argued that Respondent's arrest was a Fourth Amendment violation because the officers had reached into Respondent's home to make a warrantless arrest. (R. 135-147). The State argued that the warrantless arrest was lawful because the officers did not enter her house and that she was in the doorway. (R. 147-165).

The State further argued that the motion should be for a motion for suppression and if suppression was granted, the State would be forced to dismiss the charge. (R. 165). Respondent responded stating that the motion was to dismiss the entire case. (R. 165-166). The trial judge agreed that that was his reading of the motion. (R. 166). The State argued that while it was labeled "Motion to Dismiss" that the appropriate remedy would be suppression as opposed to a straight-out dismissal for both charges because the issue was the unconstitutionality of the entrance of the home for the resisting arrest, not necessarily for her calling 911 many times prior to that point. (R. 166). The trial judge in his ruling agreed that as a threshold issue, they were able to make an arrest for misuse of 911, but that the arrest itself was not proper. (R. 167-171).

An order granting defense's motion to dismiss was filed and both charges were dismissed. (R. 1-10). In the order, it again stated that there was evidence that fit the "freshly committed" requirement, obviating the need for an arrest warrant, yet then dismissed both the misuse of 911 and the resisting arrest charge. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “An abuse of discretion arises from an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support.” State v. Meggett, 398 S.C. 516, 523, 728 S.E.2d 492, 496 (Ct. App. 2012).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge reversibly erred by granting Germain's motion to dismiss both the unlawful use of 911 charge and the resisting arrest charge after finding that the arrest was unlawful when there was sufficient facts to support the charge of misuse of 911 prior to Fourth Amendment Violation occurring.

On Appeal the State is not arguing that the arrest was lawful. Furthermore, the State is not challenging the dismissal of unlawful arrest charge although the proper remedy should have been suppression of the fruits of the unlawful arrest instead of judicial dismissal. Instead, the State's argument is solely focused on the trial judge's judicial dismissal of the misuse of 911 charge. The trial judge erred by dismissing the misuse of 911 charge because there was sufficient evidence supporting the misuse of 911 before any unconstitutional violation occurred. Thus, a subsequent constitutional violation could not properly serve as a basis for the complete dismissal of a crime that had already occurred and that required no evidence to prove that had been obtained as fruit of the constitutional violation.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects people from unreasonable searches and seizures and provides that no warrants shall be issued except upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation and particularly describing the place to be searched and the persons or things to be seized. U.S. Const. amend. IV. "The exclusionary rule is a judicially created remedy designed to safeguard Fourth Amendment rights generally through its deterrent effect, rather than a personal constitutional right of the party aggrieved." State v. Adams, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 345 (2014). "The remedy of exclusion 'compel[s] respect for the constitutional guaranty in the only effectively available way- by removing the incentive to disregard it.'" Id. (citing Elkins v. United States, 364 U.S. 206, 217, 80 S.Ct. 1437

(1960)). The fact that a Fourth Amendment violation occurs does not mean that the exclusionary rule automatically applies. Id.

In this case the exclusionary rule does not apply because the Fourth Amendment violation occurred after there was sufficient evidence for the misuse of 911 charge.

It is unlawful for a person anonymously or otherwise to:

- (1) Use any words or language of a profane, vulgar, lewd, lascivious, or indecent nature on an emergency 911 number with the intent to intimidate or harass a dispatcher;
- (2) Contact the emergency 911 number, whether or not conversation ensues for the purpose of annoying or harassing the dispatcher or interfering with or disrupting emergency 911 service.

S.C. Code Ann. §23-47-80. There were sufficient facts to support the misuse of 911 prior to any Fourth Amendment violations. Officer Duritsa testified that dispatch had advised him that Respondent had made multiple calls to 911 and was cussing and threatening dispatch. (R. 22). Officers went to Respondent's residence and while there told her if she called 911 again she would be arrested for misuse of 911. (R. 57, 64). After leaving the residence, dispatch informed Duritsa that Respondent had called again and was using profane language against dispatch. (R. 30). Officer Hendricks testified that when they arrived the second time "she made it clear that she was not going to stop calling 911 that night. And there was something there – there was something else going on that she was not going to stop calling 911. And the last two times it was a clear indication that she was harassing dispatch at that point." (R. 69-70).

Respondent also testified and admitted that she said, "You are going to be in big trouble." (R. 128). The two calls that occurred after officers left the first time were clearly for the purpose of harassing dispatch. On the calls you can hear Respondent call saying that she did not want officers to come back out but was calling to complain using profane language about the

officers that did come out to her residence. She admits in her testimony that she used foul language and called officers multiple times. (R. 126-134).

In the order granting defense's motion to dismiss, the court stated "In this case, the Defendant made the calls to 911, asking, at first for help. She never denied making the calls. She admitted to police that she made the calls, and, although she called numerous times, the officers arrived shortly after they had been informed about the calls for service. Because of these facts, the court finds that the facts and circumstances here fit the 'freshly committed' requirement, obviating the need for an arrest warrant." (R. 4). While the arrest itself may have been a Fourth Amendment violation, there was sufficient evidence for the misuse of 911 that occurred **prior to** when the violation occurred. Thus, dismissal of a charge that occurred prior to the constitutional violation could not have been an appropriate remedy. Therefore, the trial judge erred by granting defense's motion to dismiss.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the ruling of the circuit court judge should be reversed and the case should be remanded for trial on the unlawful use of 911 charge.