RECEIVED

Aug 01 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable David P. Caraker, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001615

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Appellant,

vs.

ELISABETH ANNE GERMAIN,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

J. SCOTT BISCHOFF, II
Attorney for Respondent
SC Bar # 74285

Adams & Bischoff, LLC
171 Church Street, Ste. 360
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 277-0090
scott@adamsbischoff.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Notwithstanding the contradiction in the State's Statement of Issue on Appeal, is it the law of the case that a pre-trial dismissal is not procedural error because the State conceded in their initial brief the Defendant's arrest was unlawful and chose not to challenge the trial court's dismissal of the Resisting Arrest indictment?
2. Was it an abuse of discretion, and therefore error, for the trial judge to grant the Defendant's request to dismiss two misdemeanor indictments after a pretrial hearing during which testimony and body worn camera video was reviewed by the court that showed a clearly egregious violation of the Defendant's rights under the Fourth Amendment when law enforcement performed a warrantless arrest by forcibly removing her from her home absent exigent circumstances?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the evening of July 19, 2023, Elisabeth Germain was taken into custody via a warrantless arrest for two misdemeanor charges: Resisting Arrest in violation of South Carolina Code Ann. §16-9-320(A) (1976) and Unlawful Use of 911 in violation of South Carolina Code Ann. §23-47-80 (1976). She was indicted for both offenses by a Charleston County Grand Jury on November 6, 2023. Her case was called for trial on August 21, 2024. Prior to trial Germain, by and through her attorney, Scott Bischoff, filed a Motion to Dismiss due to egregious Fourth Amendment violations by the arresting officers. The presiding trial judge the Honorable David Caraker held a pretrial hearing on the first day of trial without objection from the State. After the hours-long hearing, Judge Caraker ruled in favor of the Defense and dismissed both indictments. His Order stating the reasons for dismissal was filed on September 24, 2024. The State subsequently filed a timely notice of appeal and their initial brief was filed on February 3, 2025. This Respondent's brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the evening of July 18, 2023, and into the early morning hours of July 19, 2023, Elisabeth Germain, a former sexual assault survivor, and two deputies were involved in an incident outside Germain's home in Charleston, South Carolina. (R. p. 21, lines 8-11). The incident consisted of the two deputies, Deputy Hendricks and Deputy Durista, working in concert with one another to arrest Germain for Unlawful Use of 911 and Resisting Arrest. Germain made multiple calls to 911 the night of her arrest regarding what she felt was threatening and intimidating behavior by her live-in boyfriend at the time who refused to leave the house where they were living together. (R. p. 21, lines 17-22). It took government officials 73 minutes to respond to Germain's house from the time she made her initial 911 call, during which she spoke clearly, calmly and respectfully when she was asking for help. (R. p. 119, lines 15-17).

The excessive delay in anyone responding to her requests for help was emotionally triggering for Germain, as was evident on the bodyworn camera video both deputies wore the night of her arrest. (R. p. 121, lines 3-5). After several exchanges back and forth with Germain while she was inside her home, and after being told by one of the deputies her refusal to come outside was grounds to charge her with resisting arrest, that she was making things worse by not coming outside where they were waiting for her, and that he would kick her door in if she did not open the door, Germain cracked open the door to her house. (R. p. 123, lines 9-18). She was then immediately and forcibly removed from her house by deputies while she told them they were not welcome in her home. Neither of the deputies had an arrest warrant nor a search warrant.

Later that night she was charged with two misdemeanor offenses: 1. Unlawful Use of 911 and 2. Resisting Arrest. Her case was called for trial on August 21, 2024. Prior to swearing a jury, and after Germain by and through her attorney, Scott Bischoff, filed a Motion to Dismiss, the

presiding trial judge the Honorable David Caraker held a pretrial hearing without objection from the State. During the hours-long hearing, Judge Caraker, who himself is a former police officer, heard testimony from both deputies; reviewed their bodyworn camera video from the night of Germain's arrest; heard testimony from Germain; and ultimately issued an Order that was filed on September 24, 2024, dismissing both indictments.

ARGUMENT

It is the law of the case that the trial court's pre-trial dismissal was not procedural error because the State conceded in their initial brief the Defendant's arrest was unlawful and chose not to challenge the trial court's dismissal of the Resisting Arrest indictment.

Because the State concedes in their brief that the arrest of the Defendant was unlawful and in violation of the Fourth Amendment, it is now the law of the case. *See Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Jones*, 335 S.C. 295, 516 S.E.2d 468 (Ct. App. 1999) (holding because the Town has failed to appeal the lower courts' ruling that the citizen's arrest was invalid, it is the law of this case that detention of the Defendant Jones was unlawful) (citing *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund. L.P. v. Deloitte Touche*, 327 S.C. 238, 489 S.E.2d 470 (1997) (an unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case)). Despite the Statement of Issues which says they are challenging dismissal of both indictments, they subsequently state that the trial judge was in fact permitted to dismiss the Resisting Arrest indictment on account of the unlawful arrest. (*See State's initial brief*, pg. 10, sentences 1-3). The State proceeds to argue and explicitly states they are "solely focused on the trial judge's judicial dismissal of the misuse of 911 charge." *Id.* As such, the appeal of the dismissal of the Resisting Arrest indictment has effectively been waived and is no longer before the court for review. *See Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 21, 640 S.E.2d 486, 497 (Ct. App. 2006) (holding an issue listed in statement of issues on appeal but not addressed in brief is abandoned) and *Hotel & Motel Holdings, LLC v. BJC Enters., LLC*, 414 S.C. 635, 780 S.E.2d 263 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting *State v. Lindsey*, 394 S.C. 354, 363, 714 S.E.2d 554, 558 (Ct. App. 2011)) (holding an issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority).

Additionally, a logical conclusion of their waiver of any challenge to the dismissal of the Resisting Arrest indictment, is that they agree with the trial court that the arrest was a clear violation of the right under the Fourth Amendment to be free from unreasonable search and seizure, especially in their own home. Therefore, the State is ultimately not challenging the trial judge's authority to dismiss an indictment pretrial. This is now the law of the case. The only issue left for this Court on appeal is whether the trial judge abused his discretion in dismissing the Unlawful Use of 911 indictment, and this question must be answered in the context created by the specific arguments of the State in their brief. *Id.*

It was not an abuse of discretion nor error for the trial judge to grant the Defendant's request to dismiss two misdemeanor indictments after a pretrial hearing during which testimony and body worn camera video was reviewed by the court and showed a clearly egregious violation of the Defendant's rights under the Fourth Amendment when law enforcement performed a warrantless arrest by forcibly removing her from her home absent exigent circumstances.

Because the State also explicitly states in their brief the only focus of their argument on appeal is whether dismissal of the Unlawful Use of 911 indictment by the trial judge after a pretrial hearing was error, the only issue for this Court to decide is whether the trial court abused its discretion and committed reversible error by dismissing the Unlawful Use of 911 indictment. For all the reasons stated below, and under these specific factual and procedural circumstances, the trial judge's pretrial dismissal of both indictments should be affirmed.

Procedurally, having waived both the right to contest a dismissal of an indictment after a pre-trial hearing and the right to contest unlawful arrest as a basis for the dismissal, the State's attempt to differentiate the dismissal of the Unlawful Use of 911 charge is unpersuasive. The State contends that because the unlawful arrest happened after the officer's had probable cause for the charge of Unlawful Use of 911, the unlawful arrest cannot be the foundation for dismissal of the Unlawful Use of 911 charge. They cite no authority for their position nor do they acknowledge that the unlawful arrest also occurred chronologically after officers formed the belief that they had probable cause to arrest for Resisting Arrest. Thus, under the State's own law of the case, the dismissal of the Unlawful Use of 911 charge was within the judge's discretion.

Factually, this case presents a rare opportunity for the trial court, and by extension this appellate court, for two reasons: one, all conduct by the Defendant and the arresting law enforcement officers who effectuated the arrest of the Defendant outside her home was recorded by video and audio in the form of body-worn camera (BWC) video and 911 calls; and two, there is no victim in this case such that prejudice could result for want of the South Carolina Victim's Bill of Rights, therefore allowing the trial court an opportunity to wholly focus on Fourth Amendment jurisprudence, specifically the historical purpose of the exclusionary rule, which is to deter similar egregiously unreasonable government conduct in the future. It is within this context that the trial court made the determination dismissal was appropriate due to the unreasonable conduct by two male law enforcement officers who forcibly removed a female

Defendant from her home without a warrant to effectuate a misdemeanor arrest. Even the State concedes in their brief the officers' conduct was unreasonable and in violation of the Fourth Amendment, something this court on appeal should not overlook.

The primary issue on appeal is whether the trial court abused its discretion and committed reversible error when it granted the Defendant's request to dismiss both indictments pretrial for the clear and egregious violation of the Defendant's rights under the Fourth Amendment. The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness. *United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897 (1984). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 494-495 (2013) (quoting *State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-48 (2006); cited by *State v. Simmons*, 430 S.C. 1, 18, 841 S.E.2d 845, 853 (2020) and *State v. Jones*, 440 S.C. 214, 241, 891 S.E.2d 347, 361 (2023)). "The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice." *Kromah* at 349 (citing *Douglas* at 429). An error without prejudice does not warrant reversal. *State v. Lindsey*, 394 S.C. 354, 714 S.E.2d 354 (Ct. App. 2011). Generally, the prosecution has unfettered discretion to bring properly a drawn indictment to trial and the judge cannot circumvent that with a pre-trial dismissal. However, the judiciary is empowered to infringe on the exercise of prosecutorial discretion when it is necessary to review and interpret the results of the prosecutor's actions when those actions violate certain constitutional mandates. The judiciary can also check prosecutorial discretion by dismissing flawed indictments, directing a mistrial of a case wrongfully brought or prosecuted, or granting a directed verdict for lack of credible evidence. *Ex Parte Littlefield*, 343 S.C. 212, 219, 540 S.E.2d 81, 84 (2000) (citing *State v. Thrift*, 312 S.C. 282, 291-92, 440 S.E.2d 341, 346 (1994)). This Court is also permitted to decide the question of whether the trial judge abused his discretion and committed error based on an assessment of which option (reverse and remand or affirm) would best comport with the law and public policies of this state and the court's sense of law, justice, and right. *State v. Barnes*, 431 S.C. 66, 80, 846 S.E.2d 389, 396 (Ct. App. 2020).

First, this Court should determine whether an abuse of discretion occurred while considering the State concedes in their brief there was a Fourth Amendment violation in this case where law enforcement effectuated a warrantless misdemeanor arrest of the Defendant by

forcibly removing her from inside her home. Notwithstanding, however, the State asserts the trial judge erred and abused his discretion because the proper remedy for a Fourth Amendment deprivation of rights is suppression of the “fruits” of the unlawful arrest, which Fourth Amendment jurisprudence suggests is a sufficiently suited remedy; however, in this case there is no evidence to suppress because law enforcement did not obtain any evidence after the Fourth Amendment violation that they planned or necessarily had to admit at trial, thus, the exclusionary rule is a remedy without a practical application in this case. This distinction is significant and lends support to the conclusion the trial judge, who was in the best position to evaluate the facts and circumstances of the case, did not abuse his discretion by granting the Defendant’s request to dismiss.

Further lending support to the trial court’s decision to dismiss the indictments, is the purpose of the exclusionary rule. Fourth Amendment precedent has clearly established that the central aim of the exclusionary rule is to deter similar government misconduct in the future. *Leon*, 468 U.S. 897, 906, 104 S.Ct. 3405, 3412 (1984) (quoting *United States v. Calandra*, 414 U.S. 338, 348, 94 S.Ct. 613, 620 (1974) (the exclusionary rule operates as “a judicially created remedy designed to safeguard the Fourth Amendment ...”). Dismissal, although not contemplated by the exclusionary rule, is still a permissible exercise of judicial discretion, particularly in this case where the State concedes a Fourth Amendment violation occurred and chose not to challenge the indictment most connected to the violation (the Resisting Arrest indictment). This Court should allow judicial intervention in a case such as this where there is no victim and there has been a clear violation of a citizen’s Constitutionally protected right to be free in their home from unreasonable government search and seizure. While the Defendant acknowledges pre-trial dismissal was held to be error in *State v. Williams*, 321 S.C. 381, 385, 468 S.E.2d 656 (1996), the holding in *Williams* does not preclude this Court from affirming the trial court’s Order of Dismissal, as the facts of *Williams* are clearly distinguishable.

In *Williams* the trial court dismissed Arson, Second Degree indictments against three co-defendants after a pretrial hearing was held and the court determined there was insufficient evidence of the *corpus delicti* of the crime. In holding the trial court’s dismissal was an abuse of discretion, the Supreme Court stated:

We agree with the State that the trial judge abused his discretion by dismissing the charges without first allowing the State to present its case. Clearly, the trial judge substituted himself for the finder of fact during this unusual and unnecessary pre-trial hearing. Had the State been allowed to fully present its case, other facts might have been adduced which would have further proven the corpus delicti. At the conclusion of the State's case, the judge could have directed a verdict in favor of the defendants if he deemed such a ruling appropriate.

Id. The Defendant's case is distinguishable from *Williams* because the trial judge in the Defendant's case was able to view all the evidence that existed against the Defendant during the pretrial hearing. There were no additional witnesses who were pertinent or relevant to the determination of whether there was probable cause to arrest the Defendant in the manner they chose. The arresting officers and their BWC showed the trial judge all that he needed to make a deprivation of rights determination. The Defendant's case was entirely based on the theory that she should not have used profanity in calling 911 and further complicated her situation by not acquiescing to the officers' demands that she unlock and open the door to her home so she could be arrested for alleged misdemeanor misconduct. The trial judge viewed the BWC video of the officers and heard their testimony. There was nothing else to present to a jury but this evidence. As such, the state was not prevented from fully presenting their case and, therefore, *Williams* is distinguishable. Pretrial dismissal can be an appropriate exercise of discretion in certain circumstances.

Perhaps there is no other situation more appropriate for dismissal than the Defendant's case where she was forcibly removed from her home by two police officers without a warrant to be arrested for misdemeanor. There were no exigent circumstances and no concern for destruction of evidence. There is no victim in the case, either. This is a case where prosecutors ignored clear violations of the Defendant's right under the Fourth Amendment and doubled down on a dual prosecution knowing the facts did not support the charges. After reviewing the BWC from the scene, the trial judge determined dismissal was appropriate. As stated in *Ex Parte Littlefield*, 343 S.C. 212, 219 (2000), "[t]he judiciary is empowered to infringe on the exercise of prosecutorial discretion when it is necessary to review and interpret the results of the prosecutor's actions when those actions violate certain constitutional mandates." To punish a person because he has done what the law plainly allows him to do is a due process violation of the most basic sort and for an agent of the State to pursue a course of action whose objective is to

penalize a person's reliance on his legal rights is patently unconstitutional. *Bordenkircher v. Hayes*, 434 U.S. 357, 363 (1978). The State's pursuit of the charge of Resisting Arrest with the objective to penalize Defendant's reliance on her legal right to remain within her home was itself unconstitutional. When the judge found that the prosecution had unconstitutionally abused its own discretion this invited him to infringe on the actions of the State. Dismissal of a misdemeanor brought in accompaniment with a charge pursued unconstitutionally until the eve of trial is not an abuse of the trial judge's discretion and should not be overturned on appeal.

Finally, when deciding whether the trial court abused its discretion, this Court should also consider the existing public policy implications of affirming the lower court's decision to dismiss as opposed to reversal. Rarely will this Court be presented with the question of whether there was judicial overreach in dismissing a victim-less misdemeanor crime case where all relevant conduct was captured on BWC of the arresting officers. The State has also already acknowledged the arrest was unlawful and is not challenging dismissal of the indictment for Resisting Arrest. Therefore, this Court is in a unique position to review the actions of law enforcement regarding a clear Fourth Amendment violation wherein no serious crime occurred nor does any greater harm to society hang in the balance. Reversal would effectively tell the trial judge to err on the side of the prosecution when there has been an egregious violation such as this. Reversal would effectively approve of the misconduct of the arresting officers in this case who threatened to kick in the door of a woman's home and take her into custody without a warrant. Reversal would say to citizens that their home is their castle except when law enforcement impulsively decides it isn't. If there is to be any deterrent effect to violations of the Fourth Amendment, particularly those where a Defendant is forcibly removed from their home without a warrant for a misdemeanor arrest, this Court must not reverse the trial judge's decision to dismiss both indictments.

CONCLUSION

This Court is presented with a case decided by a trial judge who is a former police officer, held a pretrial hearing whereby he viewed all relevant body worn camera video from the scene such that there is no ambiguity regarding the facts, and thereafter sought to give a South Carolina citizen, who was forcibly removed from her home, the full protection of the Fourth Amendment, while also staying true to the Exclusionary Rule's purpose of deterring similar government misconduct in the future. The State is not challenging dismissal of the Resisting Arrest indictment due to an arrest of the Defendant that they concede was not lawful. There is universal agreement among the trial court, the Petitioner, and the Respondent that there was a clear violation of the Defendant's right under the Fourth Amendment to be protected from unreasonable search and seizure. Yet, the State still asks this Court to reverse the trial judge's dismissal of the first charge, the Unlawful Use of 911, because the Defendant's conduct associated with this charge occurred *before* she was forcibly removed from her home without a warrant for two misdemeanors. Yet, they cite no authority stating the chronology of a Defendant's conduct within the context of the Fourth Amendment's protections is relevant to the inquiry of whether dismissal is justified. The primary question for this Court is whether there is evidence within the record, and within the context of the State's argument on appeal, to reverse the trial court exercising its discretion in a victimless, misdemeanor case. For all the reasons stated herein, this Court should affirm the lower court's decision to dismiss both indictments.